Copyright © by Madison Mitchel 2023

All Rights Reserved

# EXAMINING MATERNAL HEALTH DISPARITIES THROUGH GLOBAL COMPARISON AND STAKEHOLDER PERSPECTIVES

by

# MADISON MITCHEL

Presented to the Faculty of the Honors College of

The University of Texas at Arlington in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

# HONORS BACHELOR OF ARTS IN INTERDISCIPLINARY STUDIES

THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT ARLINGTON

MAY 2023

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to convey my sincerest gratitude to Dr. Kyrah Brown, one of my research mentors who oversaw, continuously revised, and encouraged my work on this paper until it came to fruition. I would like to thank Dr. Andrew Milson, my other research mentor, who provided support, resources, and guidance towards this work. I would like to express thanks also to Bree Baum and Rebekah Chojnacki, staff of the Honors College and wonderful role models whom, without their guidance and motivation, I might never have pursued this avenue of studies. Lastly, I would like to thank my family and close friends who encouraged and helped me to steward this research and its findings into what I hope will be a source of much needed perspective on reducing maternal health inequities in the United States.

April 21, 2023

#### ABSTRACT

# EXAMINING MATERNAL HEALTH DISPARITIES THROUGH GLOBAL COMPARISON AND STAKEHOLDER PERSPECTIVES

Madison Mitchel, B.A. Interdisciplinary Studies

The University of Texas at Arlington, 2023

Faculty Mentors: Kyrah Brown and Andrew Milson

Maternal mortality is a pressing global public health problem that disproportionately affects Black women and birthing people. In part one of this mixedmethods study, Black maternal health stakeholders (ages 18+) in North Texas were recruited to complete a 25-item survey to understand their perspectives on communitybased approaches to health equity. Survey participants (N=16) reported inadequate financial, human, and social resources for addressing Black maternal health (75%) and that they rarely see local efforts focused on policy, systems, and structural changes (70%). In part two, a systematic document review was performed to identify and analyze national maternal health policies and programs among five high-income countries with the highest maternal mortality rates. Document review findings indicate that the U.S. has policies that are equally or more equitable than other high-income countries, despite higher maternal mortality rates. The study findings have important implications for reducing maternal mortality among Black women in the U.S.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
ABSTRACT	iv
LIST OF TABLES	viii
Chapter	
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Maternal Health as a Global Concern	1
1.2 Study Objectives	2
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	3
2.1 Maternal Mortality: An Overview	3
2.2 Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Maternal Mortality	4
2.3 Community-Based and Policy Approaches to Combating Maternal Mortality	5
2.4 Theoretical Frameworks	6
3. METHODOLOGY	8
3.1 Study Overview	8

3.1.1 Institutional Review Board	8
3.1.2 Study Design	8
3.2 Part One: Study Survey	8
3.3 Part Two: Global Document Review	10
4. RESULTS	12
4.1 Part One: Study Survey Results	12
4.1.1 Demographic Characteristics	12
4.1.2 Collaborating for Equity and Justice (CEJ) Related Results	12
4.1.3 Community Capacity (CC) Related Results	13
4.2 Part Two: Global Document Review Results	13
4.2.1 Maternal Mortality Among Five High Income Nations	13
4.2.2 Maternal Health Related Programs	14
4.2.3 Maternal Health Program Alignment with CEJ Principles	15
5. DISCUSSION	18
5.1 Study Limitations	18
5.2 Implications for Research and Policy	18
5.3 Conclusion	19
REFERENCES	20
BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION	29

# LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
2.1	Collaborating for Equity and Justice Principles	7
4.1	High Income Countries with Highest Maternal Mortality Ratios Demographics	14
4.2	Alignment of Maternal Health Policies/Programs with CEJ Principles	16

# CHAPTER 1

## INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Maternal Health as a Global Concern

Despite increasingly new health technology developed over the last century, the United States faces a maternal health crisis. Maternal mortality, or pregnancy-related death, is defined as "the death of a woman while pregnant or within 1 year of the end of pregnancy from any cause related to or aggravated by the pregnancy" (*Pregnancy Mortality*, 2023). Maternal mortality impacts many women across the globe. The global maternal mortality rate is 223 deaths per 100,000 live births, with rates varying by national income level (*Maternal Mortality*, 2023). Typically, low-income countries have higher rates of maternal mortality. However, the United States (US) is a high-income country with the highest maternal mortality rate compared to peer high-income countries. (Commonwealth Fund, 2022).

The United States' maternal mortality ratio is 23.8 deaths per 100,000 live births in total among all women (Commonwealth Fund, 2022). Due to a plethora of factors such as bias, inequitable policies, and unequal access to resources in the United States, there are significant racial/ethnic disparities in maternal mortality. Maternal mortality rates are the highest among Black women, (55.3 deaths per 100,000 live births) followed by White women (19.1 deaths per 100,000 live births) and Hispanic women (18.2 deaths per 100,000 live births) (Commonwealth Fund, 2022). To fully understand how to improve maternal

healthcare in the United States, effective strategies must be identified to improve Black maternal health in the US (Advancing Equity, n.d.).

#### 1.2 Study Objectives

Given the problem of health inequities, the objective of this study is to analyze maternal healthcare programs and policies at both an individual and a global scale. The first portion of this study aimed to understand perspectives of maternal health stakeholders to identify community-based approaches to achieving maternal health equity. For the second portion of the study, a document review was conducted to analyze maternal health policies and programs among five high-income countries with the highest maternal mortality rates. These study methods served as tools to identify areas of policy and practice that can be improved upon to protect the lives of Black women in the US.

# CHAPTER 2

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Maternal Mortality: An Overview

Maternal mortality rates can differ dramatically between low- and high-income countries due to disparities such as lower gross domestic product (GDP) allocated towards healthcare or structural and financial barriers to the accessibility of healthcare facilities (*Maternal Mortality*, 2023). In many high-income countries, the percentage of GDP spent on healthcare is relatively equivalent, so maternal mortality ratios may look similar (Gunja, et al., 2022). High-income countries, like the US, also typically have more complex healthcare systems, where well-supplied and accessible healthcare facilities are more likely to be found (Mounier-Jack, et al., 2017). The US spends more on healthcare expenditures than the top five high-income countries with the highest maternal mortality rates, yet still has the highest maternal mortality ratio (*Trends in health care spending*, 2023).

Increased risk of maternal mortality is associated with advanced age, lower education levels, lack of prenatal visits, and hypertension (Diana, et al., 2020). Despite these risk factors, over 80% of US maternal deaths in 2022 were found to be preventable (*CDC: Pregnancy-related deaths*, 2022). The most common contributing factors associated with preventability of maternal deaths include patient factors (e.g., lack of knowledge of warning signs), provider factors (e.g., misdiagnosis and ineffective treatment), and systems of care (e.g., lack of coordination between providers) (Liang, et al., 2011).

#### 2.2 Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Maternal Mortality

Maternal mortality affects women of all backgrounds, but Black women suffer at a significantly higher rate than other racial groups, and the number of Black deaths continues to rise (Creamer, 2020). The maternal mortality ratio for Black women in 2007 was just 18.8 deaths per 100,000 live births (Chescheir, 2016). However, just 13 years later in 2020, the rate increased to 23.8 deaths per 100,000 live births (Hoyert, 2022). Black women die due to cardiovascular conditions, cardiomyopathy, and other medical conditions 5.9% more often than their White counterparts and are more likely to be affected by hemorrhage and hypertensive disorders of pregnancy (Howell, 2019).

To understand why this is relevant, one must look at healthcare from a structural and social perspective. Despite individual factors such as education, wealth, or socioeconomic position, it has been shown that Black women continue to die at higher rates than white women (Kennedy-Moulton, 2022). This biased and unequal treatment of Black women ultimately stems from a term referred to as "systemic racism" (Lynch & Perera, 2017). In the US, systemic racism takes the form of "policies and practices that exist throughout a whole society or organization, and that result in and support a continued unfair advantage to some people and unfair or harmful treatment of others based on race" (*Systemic racism*, n.d.).

This disadvantage may appear in numerous ways including wage inequalities (Poverty, n.d.), mortgage loan approvals, and disregard by healthcare employees, all of which impact the mental and physical health of Black women. These disparities that ultimately result from social inequities further explain how maternal mortality is influenced and shaped by a variety of determinants.

#### 2.3 Community-Based and Policy Approaches to Combating Maternal Mortality

There is an abundance of health advertising and programming that targets individual change through workouts, diet change, or personal education. However, the underlying culprit behind the deaths of millions of Black women often goes beyond individual choices and instead points to community context and policy (Keisler-Starkey & Bunch, 2022). To fully address the disparities in maternal healthcare, there must be an emphasis on factors beyond an individual's education and healthcare encounters. For Black women, despite a college education, the likelihood of experiencing severe maternal complications is three times more than that of White women who are uneducated (*Severe Maternal Morbidity*, 2016).

One way that maternal health may be improved, rather than placing blame on Black women for their health, is through the creation and implementation of community-based healthcare efforts. Group-led organizations that "center" perspectives from individuals in the community most affected, include them in design and planning, and continuously rely on their input for implementation and assessments, are effective in giving Black women an opportunity to change their environment (Wolff, 2017). Policies and programs that protect the lives of Black women are also crucial. Through policy, equity principles can be introduced or incorporated into law, requiring healthcare facilities to adhere to modifications that allow Black women to receive equal care and access (Figures & Lhamon, 2021). Policy and structural change are crucial to lowering maternal mortality ratios in the US, as current healthcare policies place Black women in positions which "confront significant barriers to realizing the full promise of America," such as the right to live, as said by representatives of the United States White House (White House, 2023).

#### 2.4 Theoretical Frameworks

Two theoretical frameworks were used to guide this study. The Collaborating for Equity and Justice (CEJ) principles, created in 2017, provide six "tools" for creating impactful and lasting change by maintaining equitable partnerships and creating more just societies (Wolff, 2017). These principles are: (1) address structural racism, (2) employ community development, (3) employ community organizing, (4) focus on structural change, (5) build on community-engaged scholarship, (6) build core functions. The six CEJ principles can be seen in Table 2.1.

The Community Capacity (CC) framework was also used to guide and understand maternal health disparities in both portions of the study. Community Capacity was defined by Goodman and his colleagues (1998) as community characteristics that "affect their ability to identify, mobilize, and address social and public health problems" as well as the development and use of "transferable knowledge, skills, systems, and resources that affect community- and individual-level changes consistent with public health-related goals and objectives". There are 10 dimensions to CC: (1) leadership, (2) participation, (3) skills, (4) resources, (5) social and organizational networks, (6) sense of community and of partnership identity, (7) understanding of community/partnership history, (8) community/partnership power, (9) shared values, (10) critical reflection (Goodman, et al., 1998).

Collaborating for Equity and Justice Principles							
Principle 1	Address structural racism	Explicitly address issues of social and economic injustice and structural racism					
Principle 2	Employ community development	Employ a community development approach in which residents have equal power in determining the coalition or collaborative's agenda and resource allocation.					
Principle 3	Employ community organizing	Employ community organizing as an intentional strategy and as part of the process. Work to build resident leadership and power.					
Principle 4	Focus on structural change	Focus on policy, systems, and structural change.					
Principle 5	Build on community-engaged scholarship	Build on the extensive community- engaged scholarship and research over the last four decades that shows what works, acknowledges its complexity, and evaluates it appropriately.					
Principle 6	Build core functions	Build core functions for the collaborative based on equity and justice that provide basic facilitating structures and build member ownership and leadership.					

# Table 2.1: Collaborating for Equity and Justice Principles.

### CHAPTER 3

#### METHODOLOGY

#### 3.1 Study Overview

#### 3.1.1 Institutional Review Board

This study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board at The University of Texas at Arlington (#2020-0326.2).

#### 3.1.2 Study Design

This cross-sectional study used a mixed-methods design. For part one of the research, a survey was administered to gather stakeholder perspectives about equity in the current healthcare system. The second part of this cross-sectional approach involved analyzing federal policies and programs that address maternal mortality and maternal health disparities in high-income countries with the top five maternal mortality ratios. By comparing these policies with the CEJ principles, the study analyzed how US policies compete with those of other opposing countries in terms of equity and racial justice.

#### <u>3.2 Part One: Study Survey</u>

The study survey was designed to be web-based. The survey was developed by the principal investigator using QuestionPro. The student researcher (MM) identified potential participants. Eligibility criteria for participants required that they be at least 18 years old, have experience in maternal or perinatal health, and be located in the Dallas/Fort Worth area. The stakeholders for this study were considered to be key informants, meaning they had specialized knowledge about a certain field of study (*Key Informant*, n.d.) and most

studies with key informants have small sample sizes. A list of potential key informants was identified by the research team. The student researcher used this list to send emails inviting informants to participate in the study.

The survey included 25 questions with some pertaining to demographics, such as the number of years of experience respondents had, their education level, their general location within the metroplex, and their current role in maternal health. The CEJ principles guided the study to examine the extent to which programs incorporate equity and justice principles. To gather perspectives on how local coalitions, collaboratives, and other groups adhered to the CEJ principles (see Table 2.1), one section of the study survey asked respondents to choose how often they saw each statement, with responses being "almost always," "sometimes," "rarely," or "not sure." Respondents were asked in another section of the survey to consider the community in which they worked and to answer questions based on if they "agree," "somewhat agree," "disagree," or "somewhat disagree." For analysis purposes, "agree" and "somewhat agree" were combined and referred to as "agree," and "disagree" and "somewhat disagree" were combined and referred to as "disagree."

For example, question 21 of the survey asked respondents if they agreed or disagreed with the following statement: "In my community, organizations and other groups actively analyze and reflect on their successes and failures." This question directly analyzed whether respondents saw the fifth CEJ principle, which focuses on scholarship and research, as well as the evaluation of programs (Wolff, et al., 2017). Survey questions also reflected the Community Capacity frameworks. Question 17 asked respondents if they agreed or disagreed with the statement "In my community, Black people have a sense of

belonging to the community and are willing to take action on issues," which aligned with the idea that community capacity involves human interactions that "can be leveraged to solve collective problems" (Chaskin, 1999).

This study was completed over a span of three months, recruiting 25 stakeholders with 16 respondents who completed the study survey. Once the deadline for participation had been reached, analysis of the data began. Analysis was done using SPSS software to calculate frequencies and percentages for the study variables.

#### 3.3 Part Two: Global Document Review

The student researcher (MM) performed a document review between the months of September 2022 and March 2023. This review aimed to highlight healthcare policies and identify a correlation between policies that address the CEJ principles and positive maternal health outcomes. This portion focused only on the first five CEJ principles because the student researcher was unable to accurately assess core functions of the convening party that created each policy/program (Wolff, 2017). The review focused on the five high-income countries with the highest maternal mortality rates: the United States, Canada, France, the United Kingdom, and Australia.

The research team then developed templates to collect and assess data. These data were compiled using web-based research yielded from key terms including "strengthen coverage," "health coverage," "maternal health," "health policy," or "health system." Each of these selected countries were categorized based on characteristics including their maternal mortality ratios, the percentage of their GDP spent on healthcare, the national birth rate, and the gender equality index (higher percent indicates greater gender equality) (see Table 4.1). These measurements served as means of comparison between the countries

to identify which had the highest maternal mortality rate and how it compared with its counterparts.

Next, at least one relevant policy or program of each country was identified using websites such as the Commonwealth Fund, World Bank, Google Scholar, and other credible sources. These programs were described and marked with a "yes" or "no" depending on whether the program or policy included text that aligned with the first five CEJ principles. These data were then compiled into a separate matrix (see Table 4.2) to aid in assessing the extent to which any of the programs/policies aligned with the CEJ principles and whether there were any empirical studies that assessed effectiveness. A final column was included to provide a brief description of each policy/program.

#### **CHAPTER 4**

#### RESULTS

#### 4.1 Part One: Study Survey Results

#### 4.1.1 Demographic Characteristics

The final sample included 16 respondents. Three respondents (18.8%) reported less than 5 years of experience in maternal or perinatal health. 81.25% of respondents reported having an Associate's degree/trade certification or above, with half of the respondents reporting either a Bachelor's or Master's degree. Respondents were asked to choose one or more primary roles in maternal and child health they identified with from a given list. These roles included titles such as "Doula," "Community health Worker," "Midwife," etc. Of these positions, the most selected choices were "Community advocate/activist" (62.5%), "Person with lived experience" (56.25%), and "Program administrator" (50%). Lastly, of the respondents surveyed, 93.8% self-reported as women, with only one respondent choosing "non-binary or gender non-conforming."

#### 4.1.2 Collaborating for Equity and Justice (CEJ) Related Results

According to the survey, 75% of respondents only "sometimes" saw issues of social injustice and systemic oppression explicitly addressed. Half of respondents reported that they "rarely" saw Black families in the community with equal power in determining agendas and resource allocation. A focus on policy, systems, and structural changes, rather than program/service delivery, "rarely" were seen (68.8%) as well. Collaboration that

provides a structure for ownership and leadership among Black families was similarly reported to be seen "rarely" (68.8%).

#### 4.1.3 Community Capacity (CC) Related Results

Most respondents (87.6%) agreed that there are experienced, skilled workers who are willing and able to address issues related to Black maternal and infant health. Regarding the organizing and political skill needed to address the issue of adverse maternal, reproductive, and infant health, respondents had a split vote on whether they agree that their community members were often prepared. A substantial percentage of respondents (74.9%) disagreed that their community had adequate financial, human, and social resources for addressing Black maternal and reproductive health. Most respondents agreed (62.5%) that there have been previous efforts to address these issues, and yet the same percentage (62.5%) of respondents reported that their Black community members did not share values/norms regarding social justice, equity, and collaboration.

#### 4.2 Part Two: Global Document Review Results

#### 4.2.1 Maternal Mortality Among Five High-Income Nations

To make comparisons between policies and programs related to maternal health outcomes in different countries, the maternal mortality ratios, as well as other demographic information, were collected and analyzed, as seen in Table 4.1. The document review found that the United States had a maternal mortality ratio that was at least 2.5 times higher than any other studied country. The birth rate in the US was found to be average (1.6 per woman) compared to other peer countries. Regarding expenditures on healthcare, the United States spent on average two percent less (8%) of its annual GDP than the UK (9.8%), Canada (11.5%), France (11.5%), or Australia (10.3%). However, it was discovered that the GDP

of the US was almost ten times that of the second highest income country studied (UK) (Knight, et al., 2021).

Country Name	Maternal Mortality	National GDP	Health	Birth Rate (births	Gender Equality Index
	Ratio		expenditures	per woman)	
			per capita		
			(% of GDP)		
United States	17.4 per 100,000	\$23,315,080.56	8%	1.6	76.30%
France	8.7 per 100,000	\$2,957,879.76	11.5%	1.8	78.40%
Canada	8.6 per 100,000	\$1,988,336.33	11.5%	1.4	77.20%
United Kingdom	6.5 per 100,000	\$3,131,377.76	9.8%	1.6	77.50%
Australia	4.8 per 100,000	\$1,552,667.36	10.3%	1.6	73.10%

Table 4.1: High Income Countries with Highest Maternal Mortality Ratios

# Demographics

# 4.2.2 Maternal Health Related Programs

At least one policy/program that pertains to maternal health in each country was identified. In the United States, the Momnibus Act of 2021 (Taylor & Berstein, 2022), the Preventing Maternal Deaths Act of 2018, and the Helping Medicaid Offer Maternity Services (MOMS) Act of 2019 (Programs for Women, n.d.) were described and compared (Analysis of Federal Bills, 2020). For Canada, a student researcher identified the Canadian Perinatal Surveillance System (Canadian Perinatal Surveillance, 2004) and the Canada Prenatal Nutrition Program. (Canada Prenatal Nutrition, 2021). For the United Kingdom, the MBRRACE-UK (Maternity and Paternity, 2021) and Maternal Disparities Taskforce were examined (Maternal Disparities, 2022). Australia employed the National Health

(Eligible Midwives) Determination (Maternity Care Australia, 2021), as well as the Health Practitioner Regulation National Law Acts (Legislation, n.d.). Lastly, the singular maternal health program found for France (Malâtre-Lansac, 2019) was the "My Health 2022 Bill" (Delahaye-Guillocheau & Ratignier-Carbonneil, 2022).

#### 4.2.3 Maternal Health Program Alignment with CEJ Principles

Of the policies and programs analyzed from each of the five high income countries with highest maternal mortality ratios, the most common CEJ principles to which programs adhered were Principles 3 and 4 (70%), which emphasize intentional community involvement in program action plans, and a focus on policy and systems change, rather than on individuals, respectively. The CEJ principle that was least aligned with programs was Principle 5 (10%), which emphasizes the importance of using empirical studies to support action plans and evaluate programs. The United States' three studied programs aligned with at least two but not more than three of the CEJ principles (including principles 1 through 4). In Canada, only one of the two studied programs aligned with a single CEJ principle (principle 3). In the UK, both studied programs aligned with four of the CEJ principles (principles 1 through 5).

Policy/Program	Country	CEJ 1	CEJ 2	CEJ 3	CEJ 4	CEJ 5	Empirical effectiveness studies? (Y/N)	Description
Momnibus Act of 2021	United States	YES	YES	NO	YES	NO		This act has multiple bills that highlight racial inequity in healthcare. It addresses the community members that were affected and in turn encouraged the bill to be created. It focuses on policy change in multiple different sectors.
Preventing Maternal Deaths Act of 2018	United States	NO	NO	YES	YES	NO		This act does little to actively prevent maternal deaths. Its focus is on monitoring the frequency of maternal deaths, but it does call on organizations to help in the surveillance.
Helping Medicaid Offer Maternity Services (MOMS) Act of 2019	United States	NO	NO	YES	YES	NO		This act does not focus on racial contributions to health inequity. It mainly looks at how to expand Medicaid coverage to women for one year after birth.
Canadian Perinatal Surveillance System	Canada	NO	NO	NO	NO	NO		This program monitors the health outcomes of all pregnancies, regardless of if the baby is carried to term. It does not mention Black women at all.
Canada Prenatal Nutrition Program	Canada	NO	NO	YES	NO	NO		This program is aimed at ensuring pregnant and postpartum moms have sufficient nutrition. It mentions culturally sensitive or disadvantaged groups, but in Canada that mainly implies Indigenous women and immigrants.
Mothers and Babies: Reducing Risk through Audits and Confidential Enquiries across the UK (MBRRACE- UK)	United Kingdom	YES	NO	YES	YES	YES		This program notes the contribution of racial inequity towards maternal health care. It calls on policy makers, individuals, and organizations frequently. It also lists multiple studies that contribute to the data it presents.

# Table 4.2: Alignment of Maternal Health Policies/Programs with CEJ Principles

Maternity Disparities Taskforce	United Kingdom	YES	YES	YES	YES	NO	NO	The taskforce was recently created. They are focused on bringing in experts in policy and healthcare and utilizing midwives as a main way to help reduce inequity in maternal healthcare.
The National Health (Eligible Midwives) Determination 2010	Australia	NO	YES	YES	YES	NO	NO	This act mainly focuses on the implementation of midwives as a more credible healthcare provider. They focus on licensing them throughout Australia in a more equitable and consistent manner. At the end of this document, it does mention that they will review the framework after 18 months to evaluate its success based on case studies.
Health Practitioner Regulation National Law Acts	Australia	NO	NO	NO	YES	NO	NO	This law works to create more standardized care across Australia. It does not mention race, but it does try to improve maternal healthcare.
My Health 2022 Bill	France	NO	NO	YES	NO	NO	NO	This bill focuses mainly on expanding health data online, creating more opportunities for medical students to practice and study. There is no highlight on race, justice, or equity.

### CHAPTER 5

#### DISCUSSION

#### 5.1 Study Limitations

There are several limitations to this study. First, the survey was limited in size which therefore limited generalizability. Nevertheless, the response rate of 64% is considered adequate given the nature and purpose of the study. In addition, not all stakeholders who were recruited completed the survey, which may have left out important perspectives. Second, because most French policies/programs are written in French, the student researcher's analysis was limited by a language barrier. The student researcher did not have language translation resources available and therefore may not have captured important French healthcare programs.

#### 5.2 Implications for Research and Policy

Despite the limitations, the present study findings have important implications for maternal health policy and research. First, in terms of maternal health policy, the study found numerous gaps in the explicit addressing of racial disparities in multiple countries (see Table 4.2). In addition, the study found that community development and leadership throughout policy development and implementation is largely unseen. In nearly all policies that were studied, there was a lack of evidence-based research and evaluation practices. These findings suggest there is a need for promotion of community organizing throughout the creation of healthcare programs, especially in communities where injustice is prevalent. In order to see a decrease in racial inequities in healthcare, this study suggests an approach that involves more research of the creation and implementation of successful healthcare programs, as well as more elaborate systems of evaluation to ensure that healthcare policies and programs protect their communities. Lastly, the study findings suggest a need for future maternal health research focused on community organizing tactics as well as research surrounding potential restructuring of resource allocation for maternal healthcare.

#### 5.3 Conclusion

This study suggests that in order to improve the maternal health outcomes of Black women, changes must be made to the allocation of resources, community organization, and structural and policy change, rather than focusing on individual factors relating to healthcare access. In addition, despite the US having comparable adherence with CEJ principles in recent policy development to other countries, changes must be enacted in the actual implementation of equitable healthcare to ensure improvement in health outcomes for Black women in the US.

#### REFERENCES

Advancing Equity and Racial Justice Through the Federal Government. (n.d.). The Whitehouse. Retrieved March 20, 2023 from https://www.whitehouse.gov/equity/
Analysis of Federal Bills to Strengthen Maternal Health Care. (2020, December 21). KFF. Retrieved February 26, 2023 from https://www.kff.org/womens-healthpolicy/fact-sheet/analysis-of-federal-bills-to-strengthen-maternal-health-care/
Canada Prenatal Nutrition Program. (2021, November 1). Government of Canada. Retrieved February 27, 2023 from https://www.canada.ca/en/publichealth/services/health-promotion/childhood-adolescence/programsinitiatives/canada-prenatal-nutrition-program-cpnp.html

Canadian Perinatal Surveillance System. (2004, March 11). Government of Canada. Retrieved February 27, 2023 from https://www.canada.ca/en/publichealth/services/injury-prevention/health-surveillance-epidemiologydivision/maternal-infant-health/canadian-perinatal-surveillance-system.html

CDC: Over 80% of pregnancy-related deaths are preventable. (2022 September 19). American Hospital Association. Retrieved March 23, 2023 from https://www.aha.org/news/headline/2022-09-19-cdc-over-80-pregnancy-relateddeaths-are-preventable Chaskin, R.J. (1999). Defining Community Capacity: A Framework and Implications from a Comprehensive Community Initiative. The Chapin Hall Center for Children at the University of Chicago. https://www.lisc.org/media/filer\_public/27/0f/270f0aa3-a66d-4f57-ad8c-

f733584dca64/08102018 resource defining community capacity.pdf

Chescheir, N.C. (2016 September). Drilling Down on Maternal Mortality. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*. Vol. 128 (Issue 3), 427-428.

https://journals.lww.com/greenjournal/Citation/2016/09000/Drilling\_Down\_on\_ Maternal\_Mortality.2.aspx

Creamer, J. (2020 September 15). Inequalities Persist Despite Decline in Poverty For All Major Race and Hispanic Origin Groups. United States Census Bureau. https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2020/09/poverty-rates-for-blacks-andhispanics-reached-historic-lows-in-2019.html

- Delahaye-Guillocheau, V. & Ratignier-Carbonneil, C. (2022 November). Annual Report 2021. French National Agency for Medicines and Health Products Safety. https://ansm.sante.fr/uploads/2022/11/24/20221124-ra-versionuk-2021.pdf
- Diana, S., Wahyuni, C.U., & Prasetyo, B. (2020 July 3). Maternal complications and risk factors for mortality. *J Public Health Res.* Vol. 9 (Issue 2). 10.4081/jphr.2020.1842

*Eligible midwives and collaborative arrangements.* (2013 September). State of Victoria Department of Health. Retrieved January 27, 2023 from https://www.health.vic.gov.au/sites/default/files/migrated/files/collections/policies -and-guidelines/e/eligible-midwives--collaborative-arrangements---pdf.pdf

- *Field Listing-Ethnic Groups.* (n.d.) The World Factbook. Retrieved February 4, 2023 from https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/field/ethnic-groups/
- Figures, K.D. & Lhamon, C.E. (2021 March 29). Approaching Policy with Equity in Mind. The Whitehouse. https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefingroom/blog/2021/03/29/approaching-policy-with-equity-in-mind/
- GDP (current US\$). (2021). The World Bank. Retrieved February 4, 2023 from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD
- *Gender Equality by Country 2023.* (2023). World Population Review. Retrieved February 4, 2023 from https://worldpopulationreview.com/country-rankings/gender-equality-by-country
- Goodman, R.M., Speers, M.A., McLeroy, K., Fawcett, S., Kegler, M., Parker, E., Smith, S.R., Sterling, T.D., & Wallerstein, N. (1998 June). *Identifying and Defining the Dimensions of Community Capacity to Provide a Basis for Measurement*. Health Education and Behavior. Vol. 25 (Issue 3), 258-278. https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/67070/10.1177\_1090198 19802500303.pdf?sequence=2&isAllowed=y
- Gunja, M.Z., Seervai, S., Zephyrin, L., & Williams II, R.D. (2022 April 5). Health and Health Care for Women of Reproductive Age. The Commonwealth Fund. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/issue-briefs/2022/apr/healthand-health-care-women-reproductive-age
- H.R. 1318 Preventing Maternal Deaths Act of 2018. (n.d.). Congress.Gov. Retrieved February 27, 2023 from https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/housebill/1318

 H.R. 4996 - Helping Medicaid Offer Maternal Services Act of 2020. (n.d.).
 Congress.Gov. Retrieved February 27, 2023 from https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/house-bill/4996/text

Howell, E.A. (2018 June). Reducing Disparities in Severe Maternal Morbidity and Mortality. *Clin Obstet Gynecol*. Vol. 61 (Issue 2), 387-399.
10.1097/GRF.00000000000349

Hoyert, D.L. (2023 March 16). *Maternal mortality rates in the United States, 2021*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/124678

Keisler-Starkey, K. & Bunch, L.N. (2022 September 13). Health Insurance Coverage in the United States: 2021. United States Census Bureau. https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2022/demo/p60-278.html

Kennedy-Moulton, K., Miller, S., Persson, P., Rossin-Slater, M., Wherry, L., & Aldana,
G. (2022 November). *Maternal and infant health inequality: New evidence from linked administrative data*. National Bureau of Economic Research.
https://www.nber.org/system/files/working\_papers/w30693/w30693.pdf

Key Informant. (n.d.). Inter-agency Network for Education in Emergencies. Retrieved April 20, 2023 from https://inee.org/eie-glossary/keyinformant#:~:text=Key%20informants%20are%20people%20with,responsibilities %2C%20or%20particular%20personal%20experience.

- Knight, M., Bunch, K., Tuffnell, D., Patel, R., Shakespeare, J., Kotnis, R., Kenyon, S., & Kurinczuk, J.J. (2021 November). *Saving Lives, Improving Mothers' Care*.
  Mothers and Babies: Reducing Risk through Audits and Confidential Enquiries across the UK. https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/assets/downloads/mbrrace-uk/reports/maternal-report-2021/MBRRACE-UK\_Maternal\_Report\_2021\_-\_\_\_FINAL\_-\_WEB\_VERSION.pdf
- Legislation. (n.d.). National Health Practitioner Ombudsman. Retrieved January 27, 2023 from

https://www.nhpo.gov.au/legislation#:~:text=The%20Health%20Practitioner%20 Regulation%20National,practitioners%20(the%20National%20Scheme%20)

- Liang, J., Dai, L., Zhu, J., Li, X., Zeng, W., Wang, H., Li, Q., Li, M., Zhou, R., & Wang,
  Y. (2011 April 19). Preventable maternal mortality: Geographic/rural-urban
  differences and associated factors from the population-based from the maternal
  mortality surveillance system in China. *BMC Public Health*. 10.1186/1471-245811-243
- Lynch, J.F. & Perera, I.M. (2017, October 1). Framing Health Equity: US Health Disparities in Comparative Perspective. *Journal of Health Politics, Policy, and Law.* Vol. 42 (Issue 5). https://doi.org/10.1215/03616878-3940450

Malâtre-Lansac, A. (2019, June 25). *New Bill Seeks to Reshape French Health Care*. The Commonwealth Fund.

https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/newsletterarticle/2019/jun/new-bill-seeks-reshape-french-health-care Maternal Disparities Taskforce: terms of reference. (2022, July 18). UK Department of Health and Social Care. Retrieved January 27, 2023 from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/maternity-disparities-taskforceterms-of-reference/maternity-disparities-taskforce-terms-of-reference

Maternal mortality. (2023 February). UNICEF. Retrieved March 14, 2023 from https://data.unicef.org/topic/maternal-health/maternal-mortality/

Maternity and Paternity Benefits and Leave. (2021, April 20). NHS. Retrieved February 26, 2023 from https://www.nhs.uk/pregnancy/finding-out/maternity-and-paternity-benefits-and-leave/

Maternity care in Australia. (2021 May). Pregnancy Birth & Baby. Retrieved February 26, 2023 from https://www.pregnancybirthbaby.org.au/maternity-care-inaustralia#:~:text=In%20Australia%2C%20pregnancy%20care%20in,choose%20y our%20doctor%20or%20midwife

Mounier-Jack, S., Mayhew, S.H., & Mays, N. (2017 November 4). Integrated care; learning between high-income, low-, and middle-income country health systems. *Health Policy Plan.* Vol. 32 (Issue 4), 6-12. 10.1093/heapol/czx039

*My Health 2022: a collective commitment.* (n.d.). Minister of Health and Prevention. Retrieved January 27, 2023 from https://sante.gouv.fr/systeme-de-sante/masante2022/

Poverty. (n.d.). US Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved March 20, 2023 from https://health.gov/healthypeople/priority-areas/social-determinantshealth/literature-summaries/poverty Pregnancy Mortality Surveillance System. (2023 March 23). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved March 14, 2023 from https://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/maternal-mortality/pregnancy-mortality-

surveillance-system.htm

Programs for Women. (n.d.). Texas Health and Human Services. Retrieved February 26, 2023 from https://www.hhs.texas.gov/services/health/medicaid-chip/medicaidchip-programs-services/programs-

women#:~:text=Medicaid%20for%20Pregnant%20Women%20provides,and%20 delivery%20and%20postpartum%20care

- Severe Maternal Morbidity in New York City, 2008-2012. (2016). New York City Department of Mental Health and Hygiene. Retrieved March 20, 2023 from https://www.nyc.gov/assets/doh/downloads/pdf/data/maternal-morbidity-report-08-12.pdf
- Systemic racism. (n.d.). Cambridge Dictionary. Retrieved March 14, 2023 from https://dictionary.cambridge.org/us/dictionary/english/systemic-racism
- Taylor, J. & Bernstein, A. (2022, January 24). Tracking Progress of the Black Maternal Health Momnibus. The Century Foundation. https://tcf.org/content/data/blackmaternal-health-momnibus-tracker/

Tikkanen, R., Gunja, M.Z., FitzGerald, M., & Zephyrin, L. (2020, November 18).
Maternal Mortality and Maternity Care in the United States Compared to 10
Other Developed Countries. The Commonwealth Fund.
https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/issue-briefs/2020/nov/maternal-mortality-maternity-care-us-compared-10-countries

Tikkanen, R., Osborn, R., Mossialos, E., Djordjevic, A., & Wharton, G.A. (2020, June 5). *Australia*. The Commonwealth Fund. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/international-health-policycenter/countries/australia

Tikkanen, R., Osborn, R., Mossialos, E., Djordjevic, A., & Wharton, G.A. (2020, June 5). *France*. The Commonwealth Fund.

https://www.commonwealthfund.org/international-health-policy-

center/countries/france

Tikkanen, R., Osborn, R., Mossialos, E., Djordjevic, A., & Wharton, G.A. (2020, June 5). *Canada*. The Commonwealth Fund.

https://www.commonwealthfund.org/international-health-policy-

center/countries/canada

Trends in health care spending. (2023 March 20). American Medical Association. Retrieved March 30, 2023 from https://www.ama-assn.org/about/research/trendshealth-care-spending

<u>What we're doing about birth and maternity services</u>. (2022, August 16). Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care. Retrieved February 26, 2023 from https://www.health.gov.au/topics/pregnancy-birth-and-baby/birth-andmaternity-services Wolff, T., Minkler, M., Wolfe, S.M., Berkowitz, B., Bowen, L., Butterfoss, F.D.,

Christens, B.D., Francisco, V.T., Himmelman, A.T., & Lee, K.S. (2017 January
9). Collaborating for Equity and Justice: Moving Beyond Collective Impact.
NonProfit Quarterly. https://nonprofitquarterly.org/collaborating-equity-justice-moving-beyond-collective-

impact/#:~:text=Collaborating%20for%20Equity%20and%20Justice%20Principle
s&text=Employ%20a%20community%20development%20approach,as%20part%
20of%20the%20process

Wolff, T., Minkler, M., Wolfe, S.M., Berkowitz, B., Bowen, L., Butterfoss, F.D.,
Christens, B.D., Francisco, V.T., Himmelman, A.T., & Lee, K.S. (n.d.). *Collaborating for Equity and Justice Toolkit*. MYCTB. Retrieved February 4,
2023 from https://myctb.org/wst/CEJ/Pages/home.aspx

# **BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION**

Madison Mitchel graduated from Hallsville High School and began attending The University of Texas at Arlington in 2019. There, she earned an Honors Bachelor of Arts in Interdisciplinary Studies focused on Public Health and Global Studies with a minor in Spanish in hopes of providing healthcare to minority populations through the implementation of policy change and increased need-based programs. Upon graduation in May 2023, Madison plans to pursue a career in public health in the Dallas-Fort Worth metroplex or wherever she feels the Lord calling her.